ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2014-001717

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

-v-

CHAD STEPHEN HAYES

APPELLANT,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES K. FALK
Falk Law Firm, LLC.
PO Box 1058
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 606- 6007

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent
Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether it was prejudicial error for the trial court to qualify Laura Caldwell as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment, where she did not have a bachelor's degree in psychology, or sociology, had not published any peer review articles on child abuse assessment, and had not taken any post-graduate, or continuing education courses in the field.

II.

Whether it was prejudicial error for the trial court to allow the same individual to testify as both a forensic interviewer and as an expert in child abuse assessment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury on four counts of Committing a Lewd Act on a Minor; one count of Contributing to the Delinquency of a Minor; one count of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor under 11 years old; one count of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor under 16 years old; and 2 counts of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor under 14 years old. Three of these indictments were *nolle prossed*, namely one count of Lewd Acts upon a Minor; one count of CSC with a Minor under age 16; and one count of CSC with a Minor under age 14. His case was called to trial on July 28, 2014 before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo.

Robert T. Williams represented the appellant. Suzanne Mayes and Rhonda Patterson of the 11st Circuit Solicitor's Office represented the State. (R. 1).

On August 1, 2014 the jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. Judge Russo sentenced defendant to 3 years on the Contributing to the Delinquency of a Minor charge; and 15 years each on the three Lewd Acts charges and the one CSC with a minor under 14 charge. These 5 sentences were to run concurrent. Judge Russo sentenced appellant to 25 years on the CSC with a Minor under 11 charge with that sentence to run consecutive to the other 5 sentences for a total of 40 years.

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE COMMON FACTS

Christy Earnest has four daughters, three of whom testified as victims in this action. Throughout this brief they will be described as daughter 1, daughter 2, daughter 3, and daughter 4. In 2008 Christy Earnest met Appellant Chad Hayes and within weeks after meeting, Christy Earnest and her four daughters moved into Appellant's home in the Leesville area of Lexington County. (R. 137 ll. 4-6; R. 207 ll. 14- 18). The four girls all attended Batesburg-Leesville Elementary School. (R. 198 ll. 11 – 20). On September 1, 2011 daughter 2 and daughter 3 withdrew from Batesburg-Leesville school system and relocated to Campbell, Missouri. Daughter 1 withdrew from the school on September 2, 2011. (R. 154 l. 3 – 13). Daughter 3 re-enrolled in the Batesburg Leesville School on January 21, 2011. Daughter 1 re-enrolled into the Batesburg Leesville Middle school on January 18, 2012. (R. 156 ll. 7-10). Upon their return to Lexington County daughter 1 and daughter 3 lived with their maternal aunt and guardian Ashley Rodriguez. (R. 157 ll. 3-7). Daughter 2 remained in Campbell, Missouri and lived with another maternal aunt, Peggy Walker. (R.343 ll. 14 – 20).

After her return to South Carolina in September 2011, Daughter 3 told Ashley Rodriguez that she and her sisters were sexually assaulted by Appellant and that Appellant took naked photographs of her and her sisters. (R. 192 ll. 7 – 13). Ashley Rodriguez then reported daughter 3's allegations to Michelle Brackett, who was the Batesburg Leesville School guidance counselor. (R. 192 ll. 14- 23). On or about December 9, 2011 Michelle Brackett in turn reported daughter 3's allegations to the Lexington County Sheriff's Office. (R. 158 ll. 9-13). Michelle Brackett's report of sexual abuse included allegations of abuse by defendant upon daughter 1, daughter 2, and

daughter 3. (R. 159 II. 4 – 15). Upon receiving Michelle Brackett's, report Detective Stephen Collins of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department had the Dickerson Center conduct forensic interviews with daughter 1 and daughter 3. (R. 464 I. 1 – R. 465 I. 7). Because daughter 2 was still residing with her aunt in Missouri a provider in that state conducted her forensic interview. (R. 465 II. 8 – 19).

On or about March 30, 2013, Detective Collins interviewed the Appellant at the Lexington County Sheriff's office. After receiving Miranda warnings, Appellant gave a statement to Detective Collins and admitted to touching each of the three but denied that the contact was sexual. (R. 480 I. 6 – R. 482 I. 24). After giving his statement, Appellant was then placed under arrest and charged with criminal sexual conduct. (R. 488 II. 22-23).

ARGUMENT

I.

Laura Caldwell did not have sufficient knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in the field of child abuse assessment to testify as an expert, and the admission of her testimony was prejudicial and harmful error.

Relevant Facts

Daughter 1, daughter 2 and daughter 3 testified against Appellant at trial. All three girls were daughters of Christy Earnest. The accusations against Appellant arose from the time when Christy Earnest and her three daughters were living at Appellant's home in the Leesville area of Lexington County.

In addition to daughter 3's in-court testimony, the State introduced and published a forensic interview that Laurie Caldwell conducted with daughter 3. Ms. Caldwell conducted the interview at the Dickerson Center for Children on January 12, 2012 at a time when daughter 3 was ten years old. (R. 426 ll. 1-10.). The video of the forensic interview was published to the jury. The content of the video was not transcribed by the Court reporter. (R. 426 ll. 21-25.).

Prior to the publication of the forensic interview, the Court conducted an in-camera hearing to determine if the video interview possessed particularized guarantees of trustworthiness as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(F). In the hearing both the State and defense counsel questioned Ms. Caldwell. (R. 418 l. 9 – p. 423 l. 3). Ms. Caldwell's *curriculum vitae* was marked as Court's Exhibit 7. (R. 419 l. 3). During this in-camera hearing, the state advised the Court that in addition to having her testify regarding the manner in which she conducted daughter 3's interview, the State advised

the Court that it intended to call Ms. Caldwell to testify in the area of child abuse assessment and the delayed reporting of sexual abuse. (R. 423 ll. 7- 16). In response Defense counsel objected by stating: *I'm sure the Solicitor knows about State versus Cromer (sic) talks about what forensic examiners can testify to and how they're not supposed to give their opinion in reference to the validity or truthfulness of the person they're interviewing.* (R. 424 ll. 10-14). The Court then stated: *Well, I don't mean to interrupt you, but this may -- I don't know, this may be appropriate to take up at the point that you want to proffer that testimony regarding that. Right now I just want to really deal with the admissibility of the video.* (R. 424 ll. 17-21).

The Court then found that based upon the method Ms. Caldwell used to conduct the forensic interview, the interview appeared to have the proper and appropriate indicia of reliability. (R. 423 ll. 17- 23). Defense counsel raised no objection to the publication of the January 12, 2012 interview. The Court then called the jury back in and Ms. Caldwell provided in-court testimony regarding the manner in which she conducted daughter 3's January 12, 2014 forensic interview. (R. 425 l. 24 – R. 426 l. 8).

The State then sought to have Ms. Caldwell admitted to testify as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment. (R. 431 ll. 10- 12). Defense counsel was given the opportunity to *voir dire* Ms. Caldwell regarding her qualifications. On cross examination Caldwell revealed that she had master's degree was in social work; an associate's degree in criminal justice; and a bachelor of arts in interdisciplinary studies. (R. 431 l. 18- R. 434 l. 23). After conducting his *voir dire* of Ms. Caldwell, defense counsel advised the court that he would not stipulate that Ms. Caldwell was an expert in child abuse. (R. 434 l. 24). The Court then qualified Ms. Caldwell as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment.

(R. 435 ll. 1-4).

Discussion

The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's sound discretion. State v Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 106, 771 S.E.2d 336, 338 (S.C. 2015) citing State v Myers, 301 S.C. 251, 391 S.E. 2d 551 (1990). A trial court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. at 106, citing State v Price, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions are either erroneous as a matter of law, or are based upon unsupported factual conclusions. State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. at 106, citing State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 632 S.E.2d 845 (2006).

The two-prong test set forth in State v White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009) applies to the admissibility of expert testimony from child abuse assessment experts. State v Chavis, 412 S.C. at 106. Under the test in White, the trial court must first make a threshold determination that the expert is sufficiently qualified; and that the expert's testimony will be reliable. State v White, 382 S.C. at 273. In qualifying Ms. Caldwell as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment, the Court relied upon Ms. Caldwell's experience and training. (TT p. 511 l. 2).

Ms. Caldwell testified that it was more common for a child abuse victim to delay their reporting of abuse than it was for child abuse victims to immediately report any abuse. (R. 436 ll. 7- 9). Ms. Caldwell testified further as to why child abuse victims

may delay reporting of their assaults. Ms. Caldwell then testified that between January 1, 2014 and February 25, 2014, she interviewed 35 children at the Dickerson Center and of those 35 interviews, 29 interviews had delayed reporting of abuse by the victim. (R. 436 ll. 10 – 20). Ms. Caldwell went further to testify why child abuse victims would delay reporting of their assaults.

The facts in this case are similar to those presented in State v. Chavis, id. In Chavis the South Carolina Supreme Court was presented with the issue whether a forensic interviewer, Debbie Elliot, was qualified to testify as an expert in child abuse assessment. In Chavis the state sought to introduce testimony from a report made by a forensic interviewer through the in-court testimony of Ms. Elliot. The forensic interviewer, Ms. Gist, was not available for trial. Defense counsel asserted a hearsay objection to Elliot's testimony regarding Grist's report. The State was able to survive the hearsay objection by qualifying Elliot as an expert in child abuse assessment and then argue pursuant to Rule 703 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence that an expert was permitted to testify to evidence that would be otherwise inadmissible. Id. at 107.

In holding that Elliot was not sufficiently qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment the Chavis Court stated:

There is no formulaic approach for determining the foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability in non-scientific evidence. However, evidence of mere procedural consistency does not ensure reliability without some evidence demonstrating that the individual expert is able to draw reliable results from the procedures of which he or she consistently applies. (internal citation omitted).

Id.

In the case at bar Appellant would agree that Laura Caldwell is qualified to perform forensic interviews of child sexual abuse victims. Moreover Appellant would agree that Ms. Caldwell is qualified to testify regarding the appropriate technique for conducting a forensic interview on a child sexual assault victim.

Rule 702 SCRE provides the criteria for determining if a witness is qualified as an expert. Laura Caldwell did not have the educational credentials to qualify her as a child abuse assessment expert. Laura Caldwell does not have a degree in psychology instead she has an associate's degree in criminal justice; a bachelor of arts degree in interdisciplinary studies with a focus on sociology and social work; and, a master's degree in social work. (R. 432 II. 2 – 17). Laura Caldwell had not taken any specialized course or undergone any continuing education specifically related to the field of child abuse assessment. (R. 432 I. 25 – R. 433 I. 21). There is nothing on her C.V. to indicate that she has ever published a report or article on the subject of child abuse assessment in a peer-reviewed journal. Ms. Caldwell does not have sufficient knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in the field of child abuse assessment and delayed reporting to qualify as an expert in this field. Therefore her expert opinions do not meet the threshold qualification requirement of Rule 702 SCRE, and the admission of her opinions supported by the imprimatur of the designation as an expert in the field was prejudicial.

II.

The trial court committed prejudicial error by permitting Laura Caldwell to testify in the dual role as both the forensic interviewer and as a child abuse assessment.

Relevant Facts

Caldwell began her testimony by generally bolstering the reliability of a child's testimony when it is generated through a forensic interview. She began testifying with the following definition of a forensic interview:

A forensic interview is basically a real fancy term for an interview that's designed for children. We question children different than we question adults. Because children can be quite suggestible, we approach children in open-ended questions so that we can solicit their narrative and not ours. We leave it to the what, when, where, who, how, so that we can have them tell us instead of us suggesting a direction to go in.

(R. 415 II. 3 – 10). After further colloquy with the State Ms. Caldwell testified that the goal of a forensic interview was to obtain testimony uncontaminated by adults:

We're seeking uncontaminated information. We do not want any influence from an outside party, whether it be a caretaker, a parent, a law enforcement officer, Department of Social Services.

(R. 416 II. 2 – 5).

Once admitted as an expert in child abuse assessment, Caldwell opined why children delay their reporting or disclosure of sexual abuse. Caldwell testified that children delay reporting because: they fear additional violence; they fear being separated from

their parent and or siblings; and, or they seek the attention and gifts provided them by the alleged abuser.

The effect of Caldwell's testimony served to bolster the individual testimony from all three girls. Caldwell testified that one reason why children delay reporting of child abuse is the fear of physical violence. (R. 436 I. 25 – R. 437 I. 2). This bolstered the testimony of the three daughters. Daughter 1 testified that she feared that Appellant would frequently hit and spank her with both a belt and wooden drum sticks. (R. 215 II. 15 – 19; R. 219 II. 7 – 13; and R. 230 II. 16- 19). Daughter 2 testified several times that Appellant would "whoop" them. (R. 346 I. 17; R. 350 I. 10; R. 351 I. 7 - 17). In her forensic interview daughter 3 stated that she would not say anything about the alleged abuse because she was scared the Defendant would get mad and he would push her and hit her with a belt. (Trial Exhibit 76).

Ms. Caldwell testified that children who witness domestic abuse are more likely to delay reporting sexual abuse. (R. 436 I. 25 – R. 437 I. 2). This statement again bolstered the daughters' testimony. Daughter 1 testified that she witnessed physical fights between Appellant and her mother. (R. 219 I. 25 – R. 220 I. 4). Daughter 2 testified that she witnessed Appellant slap and push her mother, making her fall. (R. 351 II. 20 – 25). In her forensic interview Daughter 3 testified that the defendant would hit, push and kick her mother and that she was scared of defendant. (Trial Exhibit 76). She also testified that defendant pushed their mother to the ground causing an injury to the mother's tailbone. (R. 337 I. 25 – p. 338 I. 5).

In addition to exposure to physical abuse and domestic violence, Ms. Caldwell testified that exposure to animal abuse was a factor that contributed to a child's delayed

reporting. (R. 437 I. 2). This bolstered Daughter 3's statements in her forensic interview that when the defendant would get mad he would hit their dogs for no reason. (Trial Exhibit 76).

Caldwell testified that the child's dependency on grownups, and their fear of dislocation is a further reason why abuse victim's delayed reporting. (R. 437 II. 1-4). She further testified that in one-income households, they fear losing their home if the breadwinner goes to jail. (R. 437 II. 22-24). Children feel trapped when the non-offending parent is not supportive of the child. (R. 439 II. 20-24). All of Caldwell's testimony bolstered the testimony of the three daughters.

Daughter 1 testified that the reason she did not tell her teachers or other adults about the alleged abuse she was her fear of what would happen. She did not want someone to come in and separate her from her sisters. She was afraid if someone else knew, that they would call DSS and "DSS would take us away." (R. 216 I. 7 – R. 217 I. 16). Daughter 1 testified that her mother was present when defendant was taking topless pictures of the three daughters. (R. 210 II. 14-17; R. 287 I. 24 – R. 289 I. 1). Daughter 1 testified that her mother knew that defendant was shaving their pubic regions. (R. 241 I. 20 – R. 242 I. 1). In her statement Daughter 3 said that her mother was in the house when the defendant was taking nude pictures of her. Daughter 3 also indicated that her mother saw the defendant touch her inappropriately; and that her mother would not say anything about it because the defendant would get mad and hit her mother. (Trial Exhibit 76).

Caldwell also testified that predators would try and befriend and earn the trust of their victims by buying them gifts and taking them on special trips. Daughter 1 testified

that defendant bought them all their clothes, toys, and shoes. Daughter 1 was then shown State's Exhibits 30, 31 and 32, which she identified as her and her sisters' bedrooms in Appellant's house. She then identified the toys, shoes, clothes, karaoke machine, and video games belonging to her and her sisters. (R. 229 I. 23 – R. 233 I. 5). Daughter 1 testified further and that the defendant paid to take the girls to Carowinds. (R. 281 II. 10-17). She then testified that defendant told them that since they would be wearing their bikinis at Carowinds that he had to shave them before they could go. (R. 242 II. 14- 25).

Finally at the end of her interview, and once Ms. Caldwell left the room, daughter 3 turned and faced the ceiling-mounted camera and stated: *it was really sad what he did to us; sometimes he made us cry; I am happy we don't live with him no more.* (Trial Exhibit 76). This statement differed from the other testimony from daughter 3 because no one was in the room and she addressed it directly to the viewer of the recording. After Exhibit 76 was published to the jury the following colloquy took place between the State and Laura Caldwell:

Q: And at a point where you stepped out, Megan spoke out loud while she was alone in the room.

A: Yes, she did. She started speaking directly to the camera.

Q: Can you tell us during your experience there at the Dickerson Center, whether that's happened before with other kids in other cases?

A: That has happened before.

Q: And through your training and experience, can you tell us whether or not children express themselves in different ways?

A: Yes, they do.

(R. 429 I. 22 – R. 430 I. 8). Without Caldwell's bolstering testimony that daughter 3's behavior was not unusual, a jury is likely to have drawn a negative inference from this precocious 10 year old breaking the fourth wall with these remarks.

Discussion

Before testifying as a child abuse assessment expert, Laura Caldwell testified as daughter 3's forensic interviewer. The sole purpose of Caldwell's testimony should have been to lay the ground work for the introduction of daughter 3's taped interview. Forensic interviewers are not to testify to such things as techniques, of the instruction to the interview subject of the importance of telling the truth, or that the purpose of the interview is to allow law enforcement to determine whether a criminal investigation is warranted. State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 220, 776 S.E.2d 76, 80 (2015). Laura Caldwell's testimony about forensic interviews in general went beyond this limited purpose of laying the groundwork for daughter 3's interview. Laura Caldwell's general statements about forensic interviews served to vouch and bolster daughter 3's testimony because it assured the jury that daughter 3's testimony would not be corrupted by leading questions or undue influence from a parent, guardian or case worker.

State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court noted that: *It is undeniable that the primary purpose for calling a "forensic interviewer" as a witness is to lend credibility to the child's allegations.* Id. at 358. Whether by direct or indirect means, a witness may not comment on the credibility of another witness. State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012), reh'g denied (May 21, 2012) (citing Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447

(1998); State v. Sapps, 295 S.C. 484, 485-86, 369 S.E.2d 145, 145-146 (1988)). This rule applies equally to a forensic interviewer bolstering the testimony of the child interviewee. McKerley, 397 S.C. at 464 (citing Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010)). "The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury." McKerley, 397 S.C. at 464(citing State v. Wright, 269 S.C. 414, 417, 237 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1977)).

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