STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

JUL 12 2016

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

SC SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2014-001717

RECEIVED

JUL 13 2016

THE STATE, .....

RESPONDENT  
SOUTH CAROLINA APPEALS

v.

CHAD STEPHEN HAYES, ..... APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN M. WILSON  
Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100073

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-2508

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072  
(803) 785-8352

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Appellant failed to preserve the issue of whether the trial court erred in qualifying Laurie Caldwell as an expert in child abuse assessment because he never objected at trial. Further, based on Caldwell's extensive experience the trial court properly qualified her as an expert.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in qualifying Caldwell as an expert in child abuse assessment because she lacked sufficient knowledge, expertise, skill, training or education. Specifically, he argues Caldwell does not have a bachelor's degree in psychology or sociology, and has not published any peer reviewed articles. This argument is unpreserved, and Caldwell is extensively qualified.

As a threshold matter, Appellant failed to object to her qualifications at trial and this issue is therefore unpreserved. Although he questioned Caldwell as to the extent of her expertise, he never objected to her credentials; instead, he merely advised the trial court he did "not stipulate that she is an expert in child abuse." (R.434.) This general statement is insufficient to preserve the issue for review. "For an objection to be preserved for appellate review, the objection must be made at the time the evidence is presented and with sufficient specificity to inform the circuit court judge of the point being urged by the objector." *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011) (internal citation omitted). Not only did Appellant fail to present the trial court with any of the arguments he now alleges, he never even claimed that he was objecting at all. The Court should accordingly decline to address this question in the first instance, as to do so would be contrary to the well-established objective of issue preservation. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (noting

that preservation requirements are “meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments”).

Turning to the merits, the State also submits the trial court properly qualified Caldwell as an expert based on her extensive experience. “A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). “A [circuit] court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 338–39, 768 S.E.2d 246, 249 (Ct. App. 2015) (alteration in original).

A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where “the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge.” *State v. Henry*, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1998). In determining whether a witness’s knowledge, skill, training, or experience qualifies the witness as an expert, no mandatory set of qualifications is required. *Id.* at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467.

Appellant now claims it was error to qualify Caldwell as an expert because she: (1) does not have a degree in psychology, (2) never published a peer-reviewed article on the subject, and (3) has not attended specialized courses or continuing education in the field of child abuse assessment. Interestingly, Appellant fails to articulate why these specifics are absolute threshold necessities in qualifying an individual as an expert in child abuse assessment and not merely fodder for cross-examination as to the weight of

her testimony. See *White*, 382 S.C. at 273–74, 676 S.E.2d at 688 (“With respect to qualifications, a witness may satisfy the Rule 702 threshold yet the opponent may still challenge the amount or quality of the qualifications.”); *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 505, 435 S.E.2d 859, 861 (1993) (“Generally, however, defects in the amount and quality of education or experience go to the weight of the expert’s testimony and not its admissibility.”). Qualification of Caldwell as an expert is consistent with case law where expert testimony on the behavioral aspects of sex abuse victims has been offered. See *Schumpert*, 312 S.C. at 505–06, 435 S.E.2d at 861 (finding no abuse of discretion in qualifying witness as expert in the field of sexual abuse where witness held a “master’s degree in social work and specialized in child and adolescent services” and “attended training seminars regarding sexual abuse survivors and worked on more than one hundred cases involving sexually abused children”).

As the record demonstrates, Caldwell has extensive experience, having conducted over two thousand forensic interviews in her career as well as having worked on hundreds of cases during her employment at SLED. She attended the South Carolina Police Academy’s child abuse investigative school as well as numerous seminars on interviewing child witnesses through Greenville Technical College, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center, the Southern Police Institute, and the Children’s Law Center. (R.416–417, Caldwell CV.) She holds a bachelor’s degree in interdisciplinary studies, focusing on social work and sociology, and she holds a master’s in social work. She further holds an associate’s degree in criminal justice. She is a licensed social worker and she attends continuing education classes to maintain that certification. Caldwell also stated she has previously testified as an expert

in the same field. In light of this experience, the trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Caldwell as an expert.

Moreover, even if the qualification was in error, Appellant cannot demonstrate he suffered prejudice such that a reversal would be warranted. As a general rule, the appellate court will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). Determining whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case and no set rule governs this finding. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Instead, the materiality and any prejudicial character of the alleged error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. *Id.* An error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *Id.*

Considering the substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. All three victims testified Appellant fondled and digitally penetrated them and both of their sisters. They also confirmed each other's statements about Appellant photographing all of them in various stages of undress, which was corroborated by the photographs presented by the State. The jury also heard the forensic interview of Victim Three, which was admitted without objection, recounting similar claims of sexual abuse. Additionally, in Appellant's statement to Detective Collins, he *admitted* to touching Victims in and around their vaginal areas—which alone would constitute first- and second-degree CSC on Victim Two and Three—and on their breasts, in addition to acknowledging he shaved the pubic areas of Victims One and Two. Moreover, Caldwell's expert testimony only provided background information on common dynamics of child abuse and disclosure. Given the abundance of evidence

indicating Appellant's guilt, any error in qualifying Caldwell could not reasonably have affected the verdict at trial and therefore any alleged error was harmless.

## II.

**Appellant failed to preserve the issue of whether the trial court erred in allowing Caldwell to testify as Victim Three's forensic interviewer in tandem with her testimony as an expert in child abuse assessment because he never objected to this alleged "dual role" at trial. Moreover, Caldwell never related any of her expert testimony to Appellant's case and therefore he suffered no prejudice from her testimony.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Caldwell to testify as both the forensic interviewer and as an expert in child abuse assessment. This argument is unpreserved and meritless.

Although Appellant now asserts it was error for Caldwell to testify in her capacity as a forensic interviewer in conjunction with presenting expert testimony on delayed disclosure, he failed to make this argument below. Before the trial court, he only expressed concern about Caldwell discussing the details of Victim Three's forensic interview during her testimony about delayed reporting; however, the solicitor clarified she did not intend to ask specifics about the case in the context of Caldwell's expert testimony and Appellant said then he "should be fine." (R.425). Appellant lodged no further objection to Caldwell's testimony, and therefore his argument before this Court is unpreserved. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“[F]or an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”).

Moreover, his argument is founded on a clear misunderstanding of the law. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2015), does not hold “it was reversible error for the Court to qualify the same individual as both forensic interviewer expert and as a child abuse assessment expert.” (Appellant's

Br. 17.) Although the Supreme Court encouraged the “better practice” of utilizing an independent expert who had not examined the child, it by no means asserted the use of the same individual was categorical error, much less a presumptive reversible error.<sup>5</sup> See *Anderson*, 413 S.C. at 219, 776 S.E.2d at 79. This Court has recognized as much in *State v. Barrett*, 416 S.C. 124, 130, 785 S.E.2d 387, 390 (Ct. App. 2016), *petition for cert. filed*, (S.C. Sup. Ct. June 28, 2016) (Appellate Case. No. 2016-001306) (“We note that although the *Anderson* court offered cautionary advice, it did not prohibit outright the practice of qualifying the forensic interviewer who conducted the alleged victim's forensic interview as an expert in child abuse assessment.”). Although the Supreme Court ultimately reversed Anderson’s convictions, the error was not that the witness in that case testified in dual capacities, but that the trial court refused to conduct a hearing to determine the witness’s qualification as an expert in child abuse assessment and the trial court qualified her as an expert in forensic interviewing. *Id.* at 218, 776 S.E.2d at 79. Thus, the concerns in *Anderson* were the trial court’s abdication of its gatekeeping function in expert qualification and the fact that South Carolina does not recognize forensic interviewing as an area of expertise. More importantly, the prejudice requiring reversal of Anderson’s conviction stemmed from vouching occurring during the testimony, not from the simple fact that the witness was allowed to testify in distinct capacities. *Id.* at 219, 776 S.E.2d at 80.

---

<sup>5</sup> It is important to recall that Caldwell only testified about her forensic interview with Victim Three, and no other forensic interviews were published to the jury. Therefore, this argument is confined to his convictions as to Victim Three, as she is the only one where Caldwell served in this “dual role” as the forensic interviewer and an expert on child abuse assessment. In terms of Victims One and Two, Caldwell’s testimony would, consistent with the recommendation of *Anderson*, be offered by an independent witness.

Such prejudice is absent in this case. Caldwell's testimony delineated her separate roles and once she completed her testimony as to Victim Three's forensic interview, she did not relate those facts to her expert testimony on child abuse assessment. More importantly, she never indicated whether she believed Victim Three's disclosure. Accordingly, the Supreme Court's caution in *Anderson* is inapplicable because any "risk that the expert [would] vouch for the alleged victim's credibility" was ameliorated by Caldwell limiting her testimony as an expert to general information on aspects of delayed disclosure and the dynamics of child abuse.

Furthermore, although he argues Caldwell's testimony regarding delayed reporting mirrored the Victims' stories, this alone cannot be prejudicial error. *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 345, 768 S.E.2d 246, 253 (Ct. App. 2015) ("The fact that her testimony corroborated some of the minor victims' reasons for delaying disclosure of the abuse does not mean her testimony improperly bolstered their accounts."). Obviously, the State would have no reason to call an expert unless her opinion was germane to the evidence presented at trial. The mere fact that a State's witness is unfavorable to the defense does not a reversible error make. *See State v. Dennis*, 402 S.C. 627, 636, 742 S.E.2d 21, 26 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted) ("Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis."); *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) ("All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided."). Again, Caldwell did not connect the factors she discussed with Victim

Three's disclosure. Instead, she confined her testimony to hypothetical situations and generalized characteristics of delayed reporting.

Moreover, not every instance she discussed was present here—Victims did not drink alcohol or do drugs with Appellant and Victims never indicated they were remotely “fond” of Appellant or enjoyed any special relationship of trust with him. This case is therefore more akin to *Barrett*, where this Court affirmed the trial court's qualification of the victim's forensic interviewer as an expert in child abuse assessment because the witness “did not limit her testimony to explaining the exact behavioral characteristics [the victim exhibited]” but “also explained additional characteristics that Victim did not display.” Accordingly, no prejudice emanated from Caldwell testifying as both Victim Three's forensic interviewer and a child abuse assessment expert.

6

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.